© 2008 Adis Data Information BV. All rights reserved.

# A Benefit-Risk Review of Systemic Haemostatic Agents

# Part 2: In Excessive or Heavy Menstrual Bleeding

Ian S. Fraser, 1 Robert J. Porte, 2 Peter A. Kouides 3 and Andrea S. Lukes 4

- 1 Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia
- 2 Department of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands
- 3 Mary M. Gooely Hemophilia Center of Rochester, Rochester, New York, USA
- 4 Carolina Women's Research and Wellness Center, Durham, North Carolina, USA

## **Contents**

Abstract
1. Agents Commonly Used in the Treatment of Excessive or Heavy Menstrual Bleeding
1.1 Tranexamic Acid
1.2 Desmopressin
1.3 NSAIDs
1.4 Hormonal Agents
1.4.1 Cyclical Oral Progestogens
1.4.2 Levonorgestrel-Releasing Intrauterine System
1.4.3 Combined Oral Contraceptives
1.4.4 Danazol
1.4.5 Gonadotrophin-Releasing Hormone Agonists
2. Other Agents
3. Conclusion

#### **Abstract**

The first part of this benefit-risk review examined the efficacy and adverse effect profiles of systemic haemostatic agents commonly used in major surgery. The second part of this review examines the efficacy and adverse effect profiles of systemic haemostatic agents commonly used in the treatment of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding, and provides individual benefit-risk profiles that may assist clinicians in selecting appropriate pharmacological therapy in this setting. Historically, surgery has played a dominant role in treatment; however, pharmacological therapy is increasingly popular, especially in women who wish to retain their fertility. When selecting the appropriate treatment, patient preference should be considered, as well as the benefits and risks associated with each agent. Recommended pharmacological therapies that are effective and generally well tolerated include the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system and the oral agents tranexamic acid, NSAIDs (e.g. mefenamic acid) and combined estrogen/progestogen oral contraceptives. In patients with an underlying bleeding disorder (e.g. von Willebrand disease), an additional option is intranasal desmopressin.

Part 1 of this benefit-risk review<sup>[1]</sup> examined the efficacy and adverse effect profiles of systemic haemostatic agents commonly used in major surgery. Here we consider the efficacy and adverse effect profiles of systemic haemostatic agents commonly used to manage excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding and provide individual benefit-risk profiles that may assist clinicians in selecting appropriate pharmacological therapy in this setting.

### 1. Agents Commonly Used in the Treatment of Excessive or Heavy Menstrual Bleeding

Excessive menstrual bleeding is one of the most common gynaecological problems seen in primary and secondary care and accounts for 5–20% of primary care consultations or outpatient referrals to specialist units.<sup>[2-4]</sup>

Hysterectomy or endometrial ablation are the surgical treatment options often preferred by women with excessive menstrual bleeding.[3] However, hormonal and nonhormonal medical therapies that reduce the amount of menstrual blood loss avoid the risks associated with surgery and have the added bonus of preserved fertility for women who have not completed their family. [2,3] Although no specific underlying cause is found in >50% of women with excessive menstrual bleeding, [4] the diagnosis of potential disorders of haemostasis, such as von Willebrand disease (10-20% of cases) or platelet disorders, such as Glanzmann's thromboasthenia, may also be of benefit in choosing the most efficacious treatment. [4,5] Recent treatment guidelines [6,7] have suggested that in the primary care setting, at least one non-surgical approach to management of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding is tried for a minimum of 3 months before referral for secondary

Recommended medical treatments for excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding include the levonorgestrel intrauterine system (LNG-IUS), oral tranexamic acid, NSAIDs and combined estrogen/progestogen oral contraceptives (COCs). [2,3,7,8] In women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding and an underlying haemostatic disorder, tranexamic acid, COCs and the LNG-IUS are effective treatments; NSAIDs are contraindicated because of their inhibitory effect on platelet aggregation. [4] High-dose in-

tranasal desmopressin also appears to be an effective option for these patients<sup>[4,9,10]</sup> and it is currently being evaluated in a clinical trial versus tranexamic acid or COCs.<sup>[11]</sup>

Although there is a relatively substantial and emerging body of evidence to support the clinical efficacy and safety of medical therapies for excessive menstrual bleeding, concerns over possible adverse effects (e.g. venous thromboembolism [VTE]) with some agents remain.<sup>[12]</sup>

#### 1.1 Tranexamic Acid

When administered during menstruation, tranexamic acid is associated with reduced levels of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and plasmin activity in both peripheral blood and menstrual fluid (comprised of blood, serous fluid, endometrial debris) and the endometrium.<sup>[13,14]</sup> This is important, because fibrinolysis is increased in the endometrium and menstrual fluid of women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding.<sup>[13-15]</sup>

Oral tranexamic acid has been used for nearly four decades in the treatment of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding.[16,17] In clinical studies in women with idiopathic heavy menstrual bleeding, tranexamic acid reduced menstrual loss from baseline by 45-60%, was more effective at reducing menstrual blood loss than diclofenac, mefenamic acid, etamsylate (ethamsylate) and 10 days of norethisterone and at half the usual daily dosage (i.e. 2 g/day orally, rather than 4 g/day) was equally as effective as oral medroxyprogesterone acetate. [18-23] There is an important correlation between the dosage of tranexamic acid (up to a maximum dosage of 6 g/day) with the objectively measured reduction in menstrual blood loss.[24] Recent National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommend tranexamic acid as an effective option to reduce menstrual bleeding, alongside NSAIDs and COCs.<sup>[7]</sup> In addition, oral tranexamic acid is recommended in managing severe menstrual bleeding in women with von Willebrand disease, [5] although a higher dose of the drug may be required.<sup>[25]</sup> Such a regimen is more convenient than other treatment options, such as factor VIII/von Willebrand factor concentrates, which are administered intravenously.[25]

The general tolerability and safety of tranexamic acid is discussed in detail in the first part of this review.<sup>[1]</sup> The incidence of VTE during the first 19 years (equating to 238 000 patient years) in which tranexamic acid was prescribed in Sweden for the treatment of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding did not differ from that in women in the general population (0.0046% vs 0.0043-0.005%).[16] A review of the Swedish national registry of VTE events did not show an increased rate after oral tranexamic acid became available over-the-counter for the management of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding.[26] On the basis of the 10 years' over-thecounter experience in Sweden, oral tranexamic acid is currently under consideration for reclassification from prescription-only medicine to pharmacy availability in the UK for this indication.<sup>[27]</sup>

#### 1.2 Desmopressin

Numerous case reports, surveys and noncomparative studies have suggested that desmopressin is an effective treatment for excessive menstrual bleeding in women with an underlying haemostatic disorder (von Willebrand disease).[10] However, in two small randomized, placebo-controlled trials in patients with haemostatic disorders, intranasal desmopressin 300 µg for 2 days was not more effective than placebo in reducing overall menstrual blood flow.[28,29] Nevertheless, in one trial[29] mean blood loss was reduced during the two days of desmopressin therapy, and a significant decrease in total blood loss was evident when desmopressin was coadministered with tranexamic acid. Although desmopressin causes the release of large amounts of tPA, fibrinolytic activity and plasmin levels in menstrual fluid are unchanged after administration of the drug.[14] There is currently no consensus on the dose or duration of desmopressin required to control excessive menstrual bleeding in women with haemostatic disorders, and a decision to use the drug should be based on the patient's response to an initial trial of the drug. [4] The general tolerability and safety of desmopressin are discussed in the first part of this review.[1] Although rare, serious adverse events, such as hyponatremia, have been reported with intranasal desmopressin in women with excessive menstrual bleeding.[10]

#### 1.3 NSAIDs

In women without an underlying bleeding disorder, NSAIDs are widely used for the treatment of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding as they have been found to reduce menstrual blood loss by 25% to 35% or more in about three-quarters of women with this condition.<sup>[30]</sup> In addition, excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding may be associated with symptoms, such as dysmenorrhoea, and treatment with NSAIDs may also improve these symptoms substantially. The mechanism of action of NSAIDs has not been fully elucidated but prostaglandin levels, including that of the vasodilator prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, are elevated in women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding and NSAIDs are prostaglandin synthesis inhibitors via their subjugation of the cyclo-oxygenase enzyme system.<sup>[31,32]</sup> There is also evidence that some NSAIDs (mefenamic acid, meclofenamic acid) dose-dependently inhibit the binding of vasodilator prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> with its specific receptor.[31,33]

The agent most frequently studied has been mefenamic acid, but other NSAIDs such as naproxen, ibuprofen, flurbiprofen, indomethacin, diclofenac and meclofenamic acid have also been used. [30,32,34] With reduction in menstrual blood loss usually in the range of 20–35%, mefenamic acid is less effective than tranexamic acid [23,32] and danazol [32] and may be more effective than ethamsylate [23,32,35] and oral progestogens. [32,36,37]

The adverse effects of NSAIDs vary in frequency and severity and include gastrointestinal intolerance, bleeding and ulceration, headache, dizziness, rashes, bronchospasm, hypersensitivity reactions and, rarely, blood disorders such as haemolytic anaemia or thrombocytopenia.<sup>[30]</sup>

While the effectiveness of NSAIDs in controlling excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding is generally similar, [32] there are often differences in their tolerability among individual patients and this influences their selection.

#### 1.4 Hormonal Agents

A number of hormonal preparations have also been found to be useful in controlling excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding, including cyclical oral progestogens (e.g. norethisterone, dydrogesterone

and medroxyprogesterone); LNG-IUS; COCs; danazol (although this is no longer recommended in the latest NICE guidance<sup>[7]</sup>); and gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) agonists such goserelin.<sup>[7,30]</sup> These agents cause functional and histological changes to the endometrium, resulting in inhibition of endometrial growth and development.<sup>[6,30,38,39]</sup>

#### 1.4.1 Cyclical Oral Progestogens

Oral progestogens (e.g. norethisterone, medroxvprogesterone acetate, dydrogesterone) given to women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding have been shown to be beneficial in reducing blood loss. Treatment must be given for 21 days of each cycle, as shorter cycles are ineffective. However, they were not more effective than other treatments for excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding (i.e. tranexamic acid, danazol or NSAIDs), although the evidence base is of variable quality.[30,39] The frequency of adverse events was similar to that of mefenamic acid and tranexamic acid and less than danazol, and included break-through bleeding, premenstrual-like syndrome (i.e. bloating, fluid retention, breast tenderness), nausea, headache, skin reactions, hirsutism, alopecia. [30,39] Recent studies have shown that estrogen-progestogen combinations vary in their thrombogenicity, although the progestogens on their own have little, if any, direct influence on thrombotic tendency. Some studies have suggested that combinations of ethinyl estradiol with third generation progestogens (e.g. desogestrel, gestodene) may have a slightly higher risk of venous thrombosis than combinations with earlier generation progestogens.[40,41] However, this outcome is now being questioned, based on results of the EURAS (European Active Surveillance) study in >58 500 women that showed that a drospirenonecontaining oral contraceptive had a risk of VTE similar to that associated with LNG-containing and other COCs. [42,43] Although oral progestogen-only agents are a third-line option in the recent NICE guidelines,<sup>[7]</sup> they may be a valuable option for women with underlying thrombophilia, such as a Factor V Leiden carrier or with a history of previous VTE.[44] Oral progestogens are also an effective treatment in women with anovulatory bleeding disturbances.[45]

#### 1.4.2 Levonorgestrel-Releasing Intrauterine System

The LNG-IUS reduces menstrual blood loss by up to 90%, with relatively few adverse effects. [6,30,46,47] The effectiveness of the LNG-IUS in reducing excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding has been linked to major reductions in hysterectomy rates in the UK<sup>[48,49]</sup> and the LNG-IUS is recommended as a first-line pharmacological treatment in the recently published NICE guidance for excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding in those women for whom an IUS may be suitable.[7] Long-term efficacy and tolerability data in this indication are still accumulating; however, 5-year results of a randomized study comparing the LNG-IUS with hysterectomy indicate similar satisfaction with treatment and improvements in health-related quality of life. [50] Preliminary evidence also suggests that the LNG-IUS may be of benefit in women with endometriosis, adenomyosis, fibroids or endometrial hyperplasia, disorders often linked with excessive menstrual bleeding. [46] This device also appears to be very effective in women with von Willebrand diseaserelated excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding; in one small study, 9 of 16 women with this disorder became amenorrhoeic.<sup>[51]</sup> Two small (44<sup>[52]</sup> and 51<sup>[53]</sup> patients) randomized comparisons between the LNG-IUS and medical treatments for excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding (most comparisons are versus surgical options) indicate that LNG-IUS is more effective than norethisterone<sup>[52]</sup> or mefenamic acid<sup>[53]</sup> at reducing menstrual blood loss.

The most common adverse effect of this preparation is intermenstrual bleeding/spotting in the first three cycles, which tends to subside thereafter. [30,46] Less common adverse effects include abdominal/ pelvic pain, acne and oily skin, mood swings, headache, hair loss, reduced libido, hypertension and leg pain. [7,30,46] VTE associated with LNG-IUS was not evident in the clinical trials discussed in the Cochrane review.<sup>[47]</sup> This finding is to be expected, given that the levonorgestrel preparation is a progesterone derivative and as such does not demonstrate a thrombogenic tendency. [6,47] As with other intrauterine devices, perforation or penetration of the uterus or cervix may occur during insertion of the LNG-IUS (mainly in postpartum insertions); however, this is very uncommon (in <1 in 1000 insertions).[6,7,54]

#### 1.4.3 Combined Oral Contraceptives

Limited, mainly uncontrolled, data strongly suggest that COCs are effective in reducing menstrual blood loss by 40-50% in women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding.[30,38,55,56] The results of two major randomized controlled trials that are currently underway<sup>[57,58]</sup> are expected to clarify the extent to which COCs reduce menstrual bleeding. Minor adverse effects of COCs, which are often temporary, include headaches, nausea/vomiting, breast tenderness, spotting and breakthrough bleeding, fluid retention and skin reactions.[38] More serious adverse effects are rare, and include thrombosis. hypertension, liver function impairment and cholestatic jaundice. [30,59] The increased risk of thrombosis in COC users results from an increase in the procoagulant factors fibrinogen and factor VII, factor IX, Factor X and factor XII and a decrease in levels of the anticoagulant factors protein S and antithrombin that is reversed within 3 months of ceasing to use COCs. [41,60] Although the estrogen component is the major cause of the increased risk of VTE, some progestogen components modulate the risk associated with ethinyl oestradiol exposure; third-generation COCs may be associated with a slightly greater risk than second generation COCs.[40,41,61] Although the relative risk of VTE in women of reproductive age who use COCs is approximately 3-fold higher than that in nonusers, [40,42,43] the absolute risk of VTE with these agents is low (2–3 per 10 000 per year), is greatest in the first year of use and is related to the dosage of ethinyl estradiol.<sup>[62]</sup> Nevertheless, because of their widespread use, COCs are the most common cause of VTE in young women. Consequently, other treatment options may be recommended for women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding who do not require contraceptive protection, or in whom risk factors for VTE (e.g. Factor V Leiden, obesity, smoking) are present.<sup>[59,63]</sup> In the recently published NICE guidance,<sup>[7]</sup> COCs are recommended as an option for the management of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding in women requiring contraceptive protection who are not suitable for or who do not wish to use an IUS.

#### 1.4.4 Danazol

Danazol, a synthetic steroid with multiple and diverse biological effects, is also more effective in reducing excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding than oral progestogens but adverse effects limit their long-term use.<sup>[30]</sup> This agent tends to induce cessation of menstrual bleeding (amenorrhoea). Danazol may cause muscle cramps, fatigue, headaches, fluid retention, oily skin, mood changes, alteration of lipoprotein profiles and hot flushes; masculinisation and androgenic effects, such as voice changes and hirsutism, are relatively common with longer-term treatment.<sup>[30]</sup> Cases of arterial thromboembolism or VTE have also been reported in patients receiving danazol<sup>[64-66]</sup> and it is not recommended in the NICE treatment guidelines for the management of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding in otherwise healthy women.<sup>[7]</sup>

#### 1.4.5 Gonadotrophin-Releasing Hormone Agonists

GnRH analogues are also more effective in reducing excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding than oral progestogens but adverse effects limit their long-term use.<sup>[7,30]</sup> These agents also tend to induce cessation of menstrual bleeding. GnRH analogues may cause hypoestrogenic effects such as hot flushes, night sweats and vaginal dryness, and a temporary reduction in trabecular bone density.<sup>[7,30]</sup>

#### 2. Other Agents

Etamsylate appears to have limited efficacy in excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding<sup>[23,35,37,67]</sup> and is not recommended in this indication.<sup>[7]</sup> Conjugated estrogens have been reported to reduce acute, excessive or heavy uterine bleeding in gynaecological patients;<sup>[68]</sup> however, as mentioned in the first part of this review,<sup>[1]</sup> the thrombotic profile, which is similar to that seen with COCs is of concern.<sup>[69,70]</sup>

#### 3. Conclusion

Selection of an appropriate agent in women with excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding depends on whether they also require contraception. In the latter group of women, for those for whom an IUS is suitable, the LNG-IUS is an effective pharmacological therapy; for those desiring oral therapy, or for whom the LNG-IUS is unsuitable, COCs are a recommended treatment option. If contraceptive cover is not required, tranexamic acid is recommended, as are NSAIDs in women with normal haemostasis. For women with an underlying haemostatic disor-

Agent	Adverse effect <sup>a</sup>				
	thrombosis	nephrotoxicity	gastrointestinal tract	hypersensitivity reactions	other
Tranexamic acid	-	-	+	+	Retinopathy (rarely)
NSAIDs	-	_	+++	++	Bronchospasm; blood disorders (rarely)
Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system	-	-	-	-	Intermenstrual bleeding spotting (transient); amenorrhoea; uterine perforation (very rare)

Table I. Safety profiles of agents recommended in the management of excessive or heavy menstrual bleeding

Combined oral

contraceptives

Desmopressin

Cyclical progestogens

der, the LNG-IUS and tranexamic acid are effective and desmopressin may be another useful option. The benefits of these agents must be weighed against their adverse effects (table I), which can contribute to poor satisfaction rates.

#### **Acknowledgements**

Funding for the preparation of this manuscript was provided by Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd.

Dr Fraser has undertaken consultancies, given lectures for or received honoraria for scientific contributions to meetings for the Daiichi Sankyo, Organon and Schering companies. Dr Porte has previously received an unrestricted research grant from Bayer Pharmaceuticals and is involved in a trial that is co-sponsored by Johnson & Johnson. Dr Kouides serves on the advisory board of CSL Behring (which markets intranasal desmopressin), has been a consultant to the Ferring Pharmaceuticals (which manufactures desmopressin) and serves on the Drug Monitoring Safety Boards of Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals Inc. (which markets ε-aminocaproic acid and is developing a sustained-release form of oral tranexamic acid). Dr Lukes has been an investigator on several trials using tranexamic acid, including the CDC study on heavy periods using tranexamic acid and desmopressin is a consultant to Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals Inc. (who is pursuing FDA approval for tranexamic acid in the US) and has been a speaker for Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd (FIGO 2006). Dr Lukes received a small stipend for contributing to this manuscript.

The authors would like to thank Dr Susan Keam, of Wolters Kluwer Health Medical Communications, for her assistance in the writing and editing of this manuscript.

#### References

 Fraser IS, Porte RJ, Kouides PA, et al. A benefit-risk review of systemic haemostatic agents. Part 1: in major surgery. Drug Saf 2008; 31 (3): 217-30

Hypertension:

Premenstrual-like syndrome; breakthrough

(transient)

bleeding

effects

breakthrough bleeding

Hyponatremia; vasomotor

- Osei J, Critchley H. Menorrhagia, mechanisms and targeted therapies. Current Opin Obstet Gynecol 2005; 17 (4): 411-8
- 3. Protheroe J. Modern management of menorrhagia. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care 2004; 30 (2): 118-22
- Kadir RA, Lukes AS, Kouides PA, et al. Management of excessive menstrual bleeding in women with hemostatic disorders. Fertil Steril 2005; 84 (5): 1352-9
- Demers C, Derzko C, David M, et al. Gynaecological and obstetric management of women with inherited bleeding disorders. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2006 Oct; 95 (1): 75-87
- FFPRHC guidance (April 2004): the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) in contraception and reproductive health. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care 2004; 30 (2): 99-109
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Heavy menstrual bleeding: NICE clinical guidance 44 [online]. Available from URL: http://www.nice.org [Accessed 2007 Jan 15]
- Oehler MK, Rees MCP. Menorrhagia: an update. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2003; 82 (5): 405-22
- Leissinger C, Becton D, Cornell Jr C, et al. High-dose DDAVP intranasal spray (Stimate) for the prevention and treatment of bleeding in patients with mild haemophilia A, mild or moderate type 1 von Willebrand disease and symptomatic carriers of haemophilia A. Haemophilia 2001 May; 7 (3): 258-66
- Kujovich JL. Von Willebrand's disease and menorrhagia: prevalence, diagnosis, and management. Am J Hematol 2005; 79

   (3): 220-8
- ClinicalTrials.gov. Treatment and management of women with bleeding disorders [online]. Available from URL: http:// clinicaltrials.gov [Accessed 2005 may 18]
- World Health Organization. Venous thromboembolic disease and combined oral contraceptives: results of international multicentre case-control study. World Health Organization Collaborative Study of Cardiovascular Disease and Steroid Hormone Contraception. Lancet 1995; 346: 1575-82.

a Frequency of adverse effects is shown as - indicates none; + indicates low; ++ indicates medium; +++ indicates high.

b Arterial thrombosis only in at-risk patients.

- Dockeray CJ, Sheppard BL, Daly L, et al. The fibrinolytic enzyme system in normal menstruation and excessive uterine bleeding and the effect of tranexamic acid. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1987; 24 (4): 309-18
- Edlund M, Blomback M, He S. On the correlation between local fibrinolytic activity in menstrual fluid and total blood loss during menstruation and effects of desmopressin. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2003; 14: 593-8
- Hahn L, Cederblad G, Rybo G, et al. Blood coagulation, fibrinolysis and plasma proteins in women with normal and with excessive menstrual blood loss. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1976 Dec; 83 (12): 974-80
- Rybo G. Tranexamic acid therapy: effective treatment in heavy menstrual bleeding. Clinical update on safety. Therapeutic Advances 1991; (4): 1-8
- Wellington K, Wagstaff AJ. Tranexamic acid: a review of its use in the management of menorrhagia. Drugs 2003; 63 (13): 1417-33
- Lethaby A, Farquhar C, Cooke I. Antifibrinolytics for heavy menstrual bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000; (4): CD000249
- Gleeson NC, Buggy F, Sheppard BL, et al. The effect of tranexamic acid on measured menstrual loss and endometrial fibrinolytic enzymes in dysfunctional uterine bleeding. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1994 Mar; 73 (3): 274-7
- Preston JT, Cameron IT, Adams EJ, et al. Comparative study of tranexamic acid and norethisterone in the treatment of ovulatory menorrhagia. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1995 May; 102 (5): 401-6
- Ylikorkala O, Viinikka L. Comparison between antifibrinolytic and antiprostaglandin treatment in the reduction of increased menstrual blood loss in women with intrauterine contraceptive devices. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1983 Jan; 90 (1): 78-83
- Kriplani A, Kulshrestha V, Agarwal N, et al. Role of tranexamic acid in management of dysfunctional uterine bleeding in comparison with medroxyprogesterone acetate. J Obstet Gynaecol 2006 Oct; 26 (7): 673-8
- Bonnar J, Sheppard BL. Treatment of menorrhagia during menstruation: randomised controlled trial of ethamsylate, mefenamic acid, and tranexamic acid. BMJ 1996 Sep 7; 313 (7057): 579-82
- European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products. Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP) opinion following an article 10 referral: Cyklo-f [online]. Available from URL: http://www.emea.europa.eu/pdfs/human/referral/090200en.pdf [2000 Jul 27]
- Mohri H. High dose of tranexamic acid for treatment of severe menorrhagia in patients with von Willebrand disease. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2002 Dec; 14 (3): 255-7
- Berntorp E, Follrud C, Lethagen S. No increased risk of venous thrombosis in women taking tranexamic acid [letter]. Thromb Haemost 2001 Aug; 86 (2): 714-5
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA). Consultation letter ARM 39: Cyclo-F 500mg tablets [online]. Available from URL: http://www.mhra.gov.uk [Accessed 2008 Feb 1]
- Kadir RA, Lee CA, Sabin CA, et al. DDAVP nasal spray for treatment of menorrhagia in women with inherited bleeding disorders: a randomized placebo-controlled crossover study. Haemophilia 2002 Nov; 8 (6): 787-93
- Edlund M, Blomback M, Fried G. Desmopressin in the treatment of menorrhagia in women with no common coagulation factor deficiency but with prolonged bleeding time. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2002 Apr; 13 (3): 225-31
- Roy SN, Bhattacharya S. Benefits and risks of pharmacological agents used for the treatment of menorrhagia. Drug Saf 2004; 27 (2): 75-90

- Lopez Bernal A, Buckley S, Rees CM, et al. Meclofenamate inhibits prostaglandin E binding and adenylyl cyclase activation in human myometrium. J Endocrinol 1991 Jun; 129 (3): 439-45
- Lethaby A, Augood C, Duckitt K. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for heavy menstrual bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000; (2): CD000400
- Rees MC, Canete-Soler R, Lopez Bernal A, et al. Effect of fenamates on prostaglandin E receptor binding. Lancet 1988 Sep 3; 2 (8610): 541-2
- Vargyas JM, Campeau JD, Mishell Jr DR. Treatment of menorrhagia with meclofenamate sodium. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987 Oct; 157 (4 Pt 1): 944-50
- Chamberlain G, Freeman R, Price F, et al. A comparative study of ethamsylate and mefenamic acid in dysfunctional uterine bleeding. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1991 Jul; 98 (7): 707-11
- Laupacis A, Fergusson D. Drugs to minimize perioperative blood loss in cardiac surgery: meta-analyses using perioperative blood transfusion as the outcome. Anesth Analg 1997; 85 (6): 1258-67
- Coulter A, Kelland J, Peto V, et al. Treating menorrhagia in primary care: an overview of drug trials and a survey of prescribing practice. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 1995 Summer; 11 (3): 456-71
- Marjoribanks J, Lethaby A, Farquhar C. Surgery versus medical therapy for heavy menstrual bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006; (2): CD003855
- Lethaby A, Irvine G, Cameron I. Cyclical progestogens for heavy menstrual bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000; (2): CD001016
- Middeldorp S. Oral contraceptives and the risk of venous thromboembolism. Gend Med 2005; 2 Suppl. A: S3-9
- Tanis BC, Rosendaal FR. Venous and arterial thrombosis during oral contraceptive use: risks and risk factors. Sem Vasc Med 2003; 3 (1): 69-83
- Dinger JC, Heinemann LA, Kuhl-Habich D. The safety of a drospirenone-containing oral contraceptive: final results from the European Active Surveillance Study on oral contraceptives based on 142,475 women-years of observation. Contraception 2007 May; 75 (5): 344-54
- European Active Surveillance study on prescribing practice. The European Active Surveillance study on oral contraceptives (EURAS-OC) [online]. Available from URL: http://www.euras-drugsurveillance.info/index.html [Accessed 2007 May 1]
- Conard J, Plu-Bureau G, Bahi N, et al. Progestogen-only contraception in women at high risk of venous thromboembolism. Contraception 2004 Dec; 70 (6): 437-41
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Management of anovulatory bleeding. Washington, DC: American College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (ACOG), 2000. ACOG practice bulletin no.14 [online]. Available from URL: http://www.guideline.gov [Accessed 2000 Mar 9]
- Varma R, Sinha D, Gupta JK. Non-contraceptive uses of levonorgestrel-releasing hormone system (LNG-IUS): a systematic enquiry and overview. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2006 Mar 1; 125 (1): 9-28
- Lethaby AE, Cooke I, Rees M. Progesterone or progestogenreleasing intrauterine systems for heavy menstrual bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005; (4): CD002126
- Reid PC, Mukri F. Trends in number of hysterectomies performed in England for menorrhagia: examination of health episode statistics, 1989 to 2002-3. BMJ 2005 Apr 23; 330 (7497): 938-9
- Mansour D. Overview of contraception methods: a provider's perspective. In: Glasier A, Wellings K, Critchley H, editors. Contraception and contraceptive use. London: RCOG Press, 2005: 44-77

- Inki P. Long-term use of the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system. Contraception 2007 Jun; 75 (6 Suppl.): S161-6
- Kingman CE, Kadir RA, Lee CA, et al. The use of levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system for treatment of menorrhagia in women with inherited bleeding disorders. BJOG 2004 Dec; 111 (12): 1425-8
- Irvine GA, Campbell-Brown MB, Lumsden MA, et al. Randomised comparative trial of the levonorgestrel intrauterine system and norethisterone for treatment of idiopathic menorrhagia. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1998 Jun; 105 (6): 592-8
- 53. Reid PC, Virtanen-Kari S. Randomised comparative trial of the levonorgestrel intrauterine system and mefenamic acid for the treatment of idiopathic menorrhagia: a multiple analysis using total menstrual fluid loss, menstrual blood loss and pictorial blood loss assessment charts. BJOG 2005 Aug; 112 (8): 1121-
- Health Canada. Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine sytem and uterine perforation. Canadian Adverse Reaction Newsletter 2006; 16 (1): 2
- Nilsson L, Rybo G. Treatment of menorrhagia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1971 Jul 1; 110 (5): 713-20
- Fraser IS, McCarron G. Randomized trial of 2 hormonal and 2 prostaglandin-inhibiting agents in women with a complaint of menorrhagia. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 1991 Feb; 31 (1): 66-70
- 57. ClinicalTrials.gov. A multicenter, double-blind, randomized, parallel-group, placebo-controlled, 7 cycle duration of oral SH T00658ID tablets for the treatment of dysfunctional uterine bleeding. NCT 00293059 [online]. Available from URL: http://clinical trials.gov [Accessed 2006 Feb 15]
- ClinicalTrials.gov. A multicenter, double-blind, randomized, parallel-group, placebo-controlled, 7 cycle duration of oral SH T00658ID tablets for the treatment of dysfunctional uterine bleeding. NCT 00307801 [online]. Available from URL: http://clinicaltrials.gov/Accessed 2006 Mar 27]
- Belicova M, Lukac B, Dvorsky J, et al. Thromboembolic disease and present oral contraception. Clin Appl Thromb Hem 2003; 9 (1): 45-51
- Quehenberger P, Loner U, Kapiotis S, et al. Increased levels of activated factor VII and decreased plasma protein S activity and circulating thrombomodulin during use of oral contraceptives. Thromb Haemost 1996 Nov; 76 (5): 729-34

- Kemmeren JM, Algra A, Grobbee DE. Third generation oral contraceptives and risk of venous thrombosis: meta-analysis. BMJ 2001 Jul 21; 323 (7305): 131-4
- Gomes MP, Deitcher SR. Risk of venous thromboembolic disease associated with hormonal contraceptives and hormone replacement therapy: a clinical review. Arch Intern Med 2004 Oct 11; 164 (18): 1965-76
- Farmer RD, Lawrenson RA, Todd JC, et al. A comparison of the risks of venous thromboembolic disease in association with different combined oral contraceptives. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2000 Jun; 49 (6): 580-90
- Alvarado RG, Liu JY, Zwolak RM. Danazol and limb-threatening arterial thrombosis: two case reports. J Vasc Surg 2001 Dec; 34 (6): 1123-6
- Corno M, Vallar G, Scarlato G, et al. Danazol and internal carotid artery thrombosis. Eur Neurol 1989; 29 (4): 235-7
- Satake R, Arakawa S, Hashimoto M, et al. Successful direct thrombolysis in a patient with extensive dural sinus thrombosis induced by danazol [in Japanese]. J Clin Neurol 1997; 37 (4): 309-13
- Garay RP, Chiavaroli C, Hannaert P. Therapeutic efficacy and mechanism of action of ethamsylate, a long-standing hemostatic agent. Am J Ther 2006 May-2006 30; 13 (3): 236-47
- DeVore GR, Owens O, Kase N. Use of intravenous premarin in the treatment of dysfunctional uterine bleeding: a double-blind randomized control study. Obstet Gynecol 1982 Mar; 59 (3): 285-91
- Porte RJ, Leebeek FWG. Pharmacological strategies to decrease transfusion requirements in patients undergoing surgery. Drugs 2002; 62 (15): 2193-211
- Warren MP. A comparative review of the risks and benefits of hormone replacement therapy regimens. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004; 190 (4): 1141-67

Correspondence: Dr *Ian S. Fraser*, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

E-mail: helena@obsgyn.usyd.edu.au